
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP)  
MANAGEMENT SERVICES FOR THE OPERATION  

OF OFF-STREET DOWNTOWN PARKING FACILITIES  
AND METERED ON-STREET PARKING SPACES  

(PUR 14-026) 
 
 

POSTED 10-10-14 
 
CLARIFICATION: In Q&A Attachment B-Revenue Detail there is a line for a 
garage located at 114 S. Hunter. Please exclude this garage when preparing 
your proposals. 
 
POSTED 10-09-14 
 
The answers provided below are intended to assist proponents in gathering 
information needed to prepare an appropriate proposal for parking operations and 
management. They are not intended to dictate future practices or limit the 
operator’s efficiency improvements. The intent of the RFP is to identify an 
experienced parking operator that can manage the parking facilities and functions, 
improve services and efficiencies, and increase revenues. We thank you for your 
interest and look forward to receiving your proposals.   
 
The City received 4 sets of questions and the City responses are provided in blue 
text. 
 
>>> Reynolds Shaffer <RShaffer@american-parking.com> 10/2/2014 1:04 
PM >>> 
 
1. In reference to section 1.15, where in the RFP is “exhibit 1” located? 

Section 1.15 incorrectly references Exhibit 1. Insurance requirements 
 are listed in Exhibit A. 

2. In relation to fire insurance costs, what is the value of the properties 
that will need to be covered? 
The exact requirements will be made firm when the contract is 
negotiated.  In the meantime, if you are pricing insurance, please 
include what is noted in the Exhibit A. 

3. How much equipment on all City of Stockton parking properties are 
leased and what are the costs associated with them? 
None 

4. Are any vehicles provided in the current operation of parking 
properties and if so what kind? 
No, current City-owned vehicles will not be available to the Operator. 

5. Exhibit D shows an increase in hourly parking and validation 
revenue for the FYs of 12/13 to 13/14- why are these projected to 
decrease in 14/15? 

 



The Fiscal Year 2014/15 budget was created prior to the end of the 
2013/14 fiscal year and was a conservative estimate based on prior 
years’ information. In addition, the temporary rental of one of the 
unused lots increased the hourly parking revenues in FY 2013/14. 
 

>>> <Bobby_Chau@aceparking.com> 10/2/2014 11:53 AM >>> 
 
1. What are the annual revenues & expenditures for the Coy, Market 

and Arena garages?  
Refer to Question and Answers Attachment A – Receiver Financials. 

2. What are the average annual utility costs for each separate lot?  
Refer to Question and Answers Attachment A – Receiver Financials 
for utility costs of the Coy, Market Street, and Arena garages. A 
breakdown of other garages and lots utility costs is not available. 
The annual total is included in the RFP Exhibit D - Annual Activity. 

3. What are the gross revenues from each separate lot?  
Refer to Question and Answers Attachment A – Receiver Financials 
for revenues of the Coy, Market Street, and Arena garages, and 
Attachment B – Revenue Detail for the remaining lots and garages.  

4. Will the parking contractor be managing and monitoring the security 
cameras? If so, what is the scope?  
Not applicable, there are no security cameras in the parking facilities. 
However, according to Exhibit E- Management Agreement, Item 10 
(on page 42) the Contractor would be responsible for this. 

5. What are the minimum security requirements for each lot? What is 
the scope?  
a. Exhibit E – Management Agreement, Item 10 states that  

necessary  security  shall  be  determined  solely  by  the  
Executive  Director or  his/her  designee  with  the  input  from  
the  Contractor.   

b. At this time, there is no minimum requirement. Security use is 
determined by need and activity in the area(s).  

6. What is the primary responsibilities and scope of metered parking?  
The operator is responsible for meter maintenance (including repair 
and/or replacement, as needed) and collections. Meter enforcement 
is not the responsibility of the operator.  

7. Will the contract be managing meter attendants? If so, what is the 
minimum staffing required for metered attendants? What are the 
minimum hours of operations?  
a. The Contractor is not required to retain existing employees but is 

required to interview interested and qualified the employees for 
vacant positions in the initial hiring of new positions by the 
Contractor. Selection for employment will be subject to the 
required qualifications and employment standards of the 
Contractor (Section 2.1, page 16).  



b. The City currently has one full time employee assigned to meter 
maintenance.  

c. The City contracts with a security company to handle meter 
revenue collections. Two security guards collect coin during a 
four hour shift, daily.  

8. Will the parking contractor be required to retain the existing city 
employees? If so, which employees and at what rate of pay?  
See answer 7a above. 

9. Is there a collective bargaining agreement currently in place? If not, 
will there be one in the foreseeable future?  
Yes there is. However, the Contractor is not required to retain 
existing employees. See answer 7a above. 

10. What is the living wage ordinance?  
Not applicable 

11. What is the average stall occupancy for each special event? 
This information is not available. Occupancy varies for different 
types of events. Refer to RFP Exhibit C-Events for number of events 
and total revenue. Parking for most events is $10 per vehicle. 
 

>>> Steve Resnick <sresnick@spplus.com> 10/2/2014 11:46 AM >>> 
 
1. Pg. 3 & 4. Sec. 1.4. Note the local business preferences: 2% bid 

preference for San Joaquin County and 5% for City of Stockton. May 
qualified bidders claim both preferences, for a 7% bid preference in 
total? 
No. Local vendor preference will only be applied to one or the other.  

2. Pg. 8 & 9. Sec. 1.16. This hold harmless clause is a “sole negligence” 
clause meaning that, in a situation where the negligence of both 
Contractor and the City has contributed to a loss, Contractor will be 
100% responsible, notwithstanding the City’s contributing 
negligence, because the City was not “solely” negligent. Will the City 
consider the removal of “sole” from this clause? 
a. The Operator should submit their proposal as if no changes have 

been made to Section 1.16. 
b. This clause may be further negotiated with the selected Operator 

when the contract is negotiated.  
3. Pg. 10. Sec. 1.25. Prior to the proposal due date, will the City advise 

proposers of the anticipated amount of the required Contract Bond? 
The amount will be made firm when the contract is negotiated.  

4. Who has the options to extend - the City or Contractor? Or, does the 
extension have to be mutually agreed upon? 
It is the City’s and or Parking Authority’s option to extend. However, 
the Operator must agree with the extension.   

5. Pg. 42. Sec. 8 & 10 Delegates security duties to Contractor- given 
that most parking operators are not licensed security providers, is 
that the City’s intent? If Contractor is to provide security services, 



then may such services be subcontracted and would the costs be 
reimbursed? Should proposers include in their proposals the identity 
of their intended security provider? 
a. According to Exhibit E- Management Agreement, Item 10 (on page 

42) the Contractor would be responsible for this activity.  Also, 
the management agreement (Page 50) lists security services as a 
reimbursable operating expense. 

b. The Operator may outsource security services, but the City or 
Parking Authority reserves the right to approve the selected 
security contractor. 

6. Pg. 50. F. States the cost of all insurance except fire insurance is 
supposed to be reimbursed. This conflicts with Sec. 2.1.5 of the RFP 
[Pg. 18 & 19], which states that insurance (other than WC) is 
supposed to be covered by Contractor’s Management Fee (i.e., not 
reimbursed)- which is correct? 
a. The exact requirements will be made firm when the contract is 

negotiated.  In the meantime, if you are pricing insurance, please 
include what is noted in the Exhibit A. 

b. This is a reimbursable expense.  
7. RFP 2.1.5 Compensation – states the only insurance covered, as a 

pass through expense is workers compensation insurance. Please 
clarify the City’s stance on Group health Insurance. 
Salary and benefits costs are reimbursable. 

8. RFP2.1.5 -The RFP states that internal accounting services such as 
invoicing monthly statements are non-reimbursable. Is there any 
account maintenance fee charged to the monthly account holder? If 
so, how much is charged out? Will the selected vendor be allowed to 
charge out an administrative charge to the monthly account holders? 
There is no account maintenance fee. The Operator may recommend 
fee additions or changes to improve operations. However, fee 
changes are subject to approval by the City Council and or Parking 
Authority. 

9. Pg. 51. Should proposers include annual increases in their 
Management Fee proposal - e.g., annual increases based on an 
objective factor like the CPI of this proposal flat for the initial five-
year term? 
It is up to the contractor to propose a competitive management fee 
for each contract year in Attachment A, so fee increases are at the 
proposer’s discretion.    

10. Before deducting from Contractor’s compensation any amounts for 
Contractor’s alleged nonperformance or poor performance, would 
the City agree that Contractor shall be given written notice and a 
reasonable opportunity to cure? 
Yes 



11. RFP 2.1.6 Incentive Fee – The RFP states this item will be negotiated 
after award. For budgeting purposes, could the City please provide a 
target number if all KPI are met? 
The incentive fee will be negotiated with the selected Operator.  

12. Please identify any ongoing maintenance contracts, and cost 
associated at the location level. 
The City has some maintenance contracts. However, these will not 
transfer to the Operator. The Operator is responsible for 
maintenance.  

13. Exhibit D provides annual sums for the entire operation. Please 
provide a detailed revenue and expense breakdown for each facility 
for each of the last two years if possible. Please provide the revenue 
detail for the on-street operation by zone if possible. 
a. Refer to Question and Answers Attachment A – Receiver 

Financials for revenues and expenses of the Coy, Market Street, 
and Arena garages 

b. Refer to Questions and Answers Attachment B – Revenue Detail 
for the remaining lots and garages. Expense detail for these lots 
and garages is not available.  

c. Detail for on-street operations by zone is not available. 
14. Please provide additional information or line item detail for the 

following Exhibit-D P&L accounts: 
 Validation/Envelopes/Other 
 Rentals, Equipment & Leased Lots 

Description 2012‐13 2013‐14 2014‐15‐budget

Revenues

Validations Paid validation stickers 8,284.00       8,300.00       7,000.00              

Envelopes After hours/honor payments 10,761.71     8,079.26       3,500.00              

Other Miscellaneous  (3,507.71)     13,286.74    

Expenses

Rentals Auto, computer, telephone rentals 68,215.00     68,319.90     48,703.00           

Leases  Leased parking lots*   339,065.00 254,658.10 214,364.00         

*FY 2012‐13 included prior year lease payments.   
15. Please provide an on-street survey with meter configurations, meter 

number, zone assignment, and hour of operations. 
Not available. Refer to RFP Exhibit B-Parking Meters Map. 

16. Please detail the existing on-street revenue reconciliation process. 
Refer to Question and Answers Attachment C – Meter Collections 

17. Please provide a list of monthly accounts by facility. Please provide 
the number of active monthly parking cards by facility. 



Parking Lot Monthly Permits*

Channel Street Garage 300

SEB Garage 360

Lot F  20

Lot J 20

Lot K 10

Lot L 30

Lot N ‐ assigned spaces 135

Lot N ‐ unassigned 200

Lot O 110

Lot R 250

Lot S 75

*Number of active permits may vary due to cancellations and 

new requests.
 

18. Will the contractor have any responsibilities with respect to permit 
administration and programs such as residential parking permits, 
etc.? 
The Operator is responsible for permit administration for the parking 
facilities.  

19. Please provide the lost ticket report by facility, by month for the last 
two years. 
Not available 

20. With respect to the banking arrangements, who will be the merchant 
of record for CC processing? 
The Operator is responsible for providing credit card processing and 
banking.   

21. Please provide the current staffing schedules and job classifications 
for all existing facilities and meter operations. Please provide an 
overview of labor hours associated with each employee class. 
Refer to Question and Answers Attachment D – Employees by 
Facility 

22. Who is currently responsible for meter enforcement? How many 
annual enforcement hours are associated with the on-street meter 
system? How many on-street meter tickets are written annually? 
Parking enforcement services are not included in this contract. 

23. Is the on-street meter system a traditional sealed system? If so, can 
you please give the dimensions of the internal coin cup? What days 
and hours are the meters operable? 
a. Yes 
b. Dimensions unavailable at this time 
c. Meter hours vary – generally Monday through Saturday, 7:00 a.m. 

– 6:00 p.m. 
24. RFP 1.27- Award-The Parking Authority’s determination to award this 

contract will be subject to any applicable bargaining obligations to 
employee organizations. Is the staff currently covered by a CBA? 



Yes there is a CBA. However, the Contractor is not required to retain 
existing employees, but is required to interview interested and 
qualified the employees for vacant positions in the initial hiring of 
new positions by the Contractor. Selection for employment will be 
subject to the required qualifications and employment standards of 
the Contractor (Section 2.1, page 16). 

25. Would the contractor be obligated to assume this CBA? 
No   

26. Please provide a list of existing worker wage rates. We are only 
requesting individual wage rate by classification and annual hours 
by position. By way of example, Attendant 1 - $10 per hour- 2,080 
annual hours - Full time status, Meter tech 1 - $10 per hour, 1,040 
annual hours – Part time status, etc. 

  Class Title   

Min Monthly 

Salary   

Max Monthly 

Salary   

Parking Attendant (Part‐Time)  $1,560.00  $1,733.33

Parking District Supervisor  $4,328.53  $5,557.17

Supervising Parking Attendant  $3,533.77  $4,536.22

Office Assistant II  $2,830.03  $3,633.63

Maintenance Repair Technician II  $3,683.41  $4,975.73  
27. Please provide a list of equipment from the existing operation that 

the contractor may utilize including any money and coin counting 
infrastructure, vehicles, golf carts, meter inventory and spare parts 
as well as any detail of handhelds used to audit single-space meters, 
collection keys, vault key inventory, safes, computer, office space, 
etc. This is to help in start-up cost assessment. 
Available equipment and items include: Meter spare parts include: 76 
working clocks (56 broken) and 300 Housings (new and used), Meter 
and mobile collection vault and keys, Office space, Office safe.  

28. Exhibit A - The RFP requires our insurance carriers to be rated “A: 
VII”. Industry standard minimum rating is “A-: VII”. Will the City 
consider revising this standard? 
No   

29. Page 52 – Payments to Contractor - 1. - FIRE INSURANCE to the 
extent of the replacement cost of the identified facilities, which cost 
of replacement shall be adjusted from time-to-time.” Is the 
Contractor required to insure the facility and/or equipment on the 
property or just our personal property? If we are required to insure 
the facility(ies) and/or equipment on the property, there will be an 
additional insurance cost and we will need to know the replacement 
cost value of the facility(ies) and/or equipment. If the intention is that 
the Contractor is only insuring our personal property, is the City 
agreeable to change in language to reflect that intention? 
The exact requirements will be made firm when the contract is 
negotiated.  In the meantime, if you are pricing insurance, please 
include what is noted in the Exhibit A.   
 



>>> Jeanette Walker <JWalker@lazparking.com> 9/30/2014 3:09 PM >>> 
 
1. Please provide staffing schedules by facility for each position - 

hourly and salary I.E, managers, supervisors, cashiers, security, 
administrative, enforcement officials etc. and for any recurring 
special events.  
Refer to Question and Answers Attachment D – Employees by 
Facility 

2. Please provide a copy of the current Procedures and Policy Manual.  
a. A manual in not currently available.  
b. Refer to Question and Answers Attachment C – Meter Collections 

for meter procedures. 
3.  Is there potential office space currently available at any of the 

parking garages and if so what is the approximate square footage 
available and per square foot leasing cost?  
Office space is available – approximately 1,800 sq. ft.  

4. Please provide a listing of the PARCS (parking access revenue 
control equipment) by facility, year placed into service and current 
warranty status.  

Parking Control Systems

Meters  SEB garage  O lot 

Channel 

Garage F Lot  J Lot  K lot  Office

Manufacturer

Duncan Housing/ 

Refurbished Mckay 

Electronic 

Mechanism Federal APD Federal APD

Manual 

Operation

Manual 

Operation

Manual 

Operation

Manual 

Operation

Scanet 

software

Model 1.4 TD 249 POD 4013  
5. Please provide detailed expense actuals by facility for the last 24 

months for all properties in the bid including surface lots, garages 
and meters.  
a. Refer to Question and Answers Attachment A – Receiver 

Financials for expenses of the Coy, Market Street, and Arena 
garages 

b. Expense detail for the remaining lots and garages is not available.    
6. Are we required to keep the existing employees? If so please provide 

pay rates and corresponding schedule.  
The Contractor is not required to retain existing employees but is 
required to interview interested and qualified the employees for 
vacant positions in the initial hiring of new positions by the 
Contractor. Selection for employment will be subject to the required 
qualifications and employment standards of the Contractor (Section 
2.1, page 16).  

7. What are the plans for the city parking employees that are union? Is 
the expectation that we take those employees on? If so please 
provide their seniority dates and schedule along with pay rates and 
all benefits.  
Refer to question 6 above. 



8. Is there an expectation that the operator will negotiate a union 
contract or be non-union? If there is a desire to maintain the union 
status, please provide a copy of the current bargaining agreement. 
No 

9. Please describe the specific duties the operator will have for the on 
street meters. Is it revenue collection, meter maintenance, 
enforcement and adjudication?  
The operator is responsible for meter maintenance (including repair 
and/or replacement, as needed) and collections. Meter enforcement 
is not the responsibility of the operator.   

10. Who is the owner of the MID and TIDs for credit card processing?  
The City owns current credit card processing equipment. However, 
these will not transfer to the Operator.    

11. What will the amount of the performance bond be for the operator? Is 
that a reimbursable cost or should it be built into the management 
fee?  
The amount will be made firm when the contract is negotiated. It is 
not a reimbursable cost. 

12. Please provide an expected monetary value for the incentive fee or at 
least a cap on the expected fee per year.  
The incentive fee will be negotiated with the selected Operator.    

13. Please provide a lost ticket history by month for the past 24 months.  
Not available 

14. Please provide the penalties or fines/fees paid by operator over the 
past 2 years.  
Not applicable. 

15. How does the Authority currently reconcile lost tickets?  
Reconciliation is done manually each day.   

16. Please provide a current inventory for on-street meters and related 
collection/maintenance equipment to include (e.g. mechanisms, 
housings, collection canisters, collection carts, vehicles, etc.):  
 Make – Duncan Housing 
 Model – Mckay Guardian X Mechanism 
 Year placed in service – Refurbished Mckay mechanism in 

January 2012 
 Warranty Status – None  

 There are two mobile collection vaults with keys and canisters. 
17. Is collected meter revenue expected to be counted and deposited by 

the contractor?  
Yes 

18. Are meter keys and related collections equipment to be secured, 
assigned and maintained by contractor?  
Yes 

19. Is there a living wage requirement for this RFP?  
No   

20. Is there an MBE/MWBE set aside requirement for this RFP?  



Refer to RFP Exhibit E-Management Agreement, Item 22(E). 
21. Who currently reports and fixes broken meters?  

City employee - Maintenance Repair Technician II  
22. What is the average time to repair for broken meters (reported and 

verified broken to operationally repaired)?  
Meters are inspected 3 – 5 times per week. Broken meters are 
replaced with working units the same day and the broken unit is 
fixed by staff or sent out for repair as needed. 

23. Does the city have any plans on providing transportation vehicles to 
commute to the various lots and garages or should this be budgeted 
for in our management fee we submit, including cost of vehicles, 
R&M for vehicles, fuel and insurance?  
Section 2.1.5, non-reimbursable items list vehicles in item number 
eight (8). 

24. Is the operator responsible for cleaning the facilities or is the City 
currently using a 3rd party vendor for cleaning services? Please 
provide a schedule.  
Exhibit E-Mangement Agreement, Item 19 requires the Contractor to 
“Inspect the entire identified facilities on a daily basis and maintain 
the identified facilities in a clean and presentable condition”.  
Schedule for “Preventive Maintenance” is provided within Exhibit E. 

25. Who is responsible for ticket and citation writing for meter violation?  
The City is responsible for enforcement. 

26. What is the existing schedule and pay rates of all employees 
involved in the parking operation that we will be responsible for? 
a.  

  Class Title   

Min Monthly 

Salary   

Max Monthly 

Salary   

Parking Attendant (Part‐Time)  $1,560.00  $1,733.33

Parking District Supervisor  $4,328.53  $5,557.17

Supervising Parking Attendant  $3,533.77  $4,536.22

Office Assistant II  $2,830.03  $3,633.63

Maintenance Repair Technician II  $3,683.41  $4,975.73  
 

b. Refer to Question and Answers Attachment D – Employees by 
Facility 

27. Does the city have any plans to open the arena garage for regular 
day to day business as opposed to the way it is currently being 
operated for events only?  
The Parking Authority is looking for recommendations on this issue 
from the successful contractor. 

28. Will the operator be responsible for selling, collecting the revenue 
and enforcement of permits?  
Yes 

29. We recognize an opportunity to automate and reduce labor. Can we 
provide the city with a budget based on how we anticipate operating 



the facilities with our new equipment recommendations or do you 
want a budget based on the current operation and staffing?  
We are looking for the successful firm to provide a recommended 
operations plan to improve operations and if possible to reduce 
costs. 

30. Please provide instruction of what we should include as “routine 
maintenance” in the budget, i.e.: cleaning supplies, sweeping costs, 
pressure washing, light bulbs and ballast. 
Cleaning supplies, sweeping costs, pressure washing, light bulbs 
and ballast, graffiti removal, general landscaping upkeep. 

31. How many employees are currently receiving health benefits?  
a. Full time employees are eligible for health benefits 
b.  

.

  Class Title   

Parking District Supervisor

Supervising Parking Attendant

Office Assistant II

Maintenance Repair Technician II  
32. Does the city provide computers and telephones or should this be 

budgeted for?  
This should be budgeted for.   

33. In Exhibit D it states that the revenue and expense information have 
only been provided for the Central Parking garages. Please provide 
revenue and expenses for all locations in order to budget items such 
as utilities and equipment maintenance.  
a. Refer to Question and Answers Attachment A – Receiver 

Financials for revenues and expenses of the Coy, Market Street, 
and Arena garages. All other locations are included in the RFP 
Exhibit D-Annual Activity. 

b. Refer to Questions and Answers Attachment B – Revenue Detail 
for the remaining lots and garages. Expense detail for these lots 
and garages is not available. 

34. Is there a monthly service agreement for the PARCS equipment at 
each location? Should this be budgeted for? If so please provide 
those costs for the past 2 years.  
No 

35. Please provide detail as to what the equipment rental line item 
covers.  

Description 2012‐13 2013‐14 2014‐15‐budget

Expenses

Rentals Auto, computer, telephone rentals 68,215.00       68,319.90        48,703.00           

Leases  Leased parking lots*   339,065.00   254,658.10   214,364.00         

*FY 2012‐13 included prior year lease payments.   
36. How is the special event staff collecting revenue currently? Manually 

or with revenue control equipment? If equipment utilized is that 
equipment owned or rented?  
Manually 



37. Please confirm the fire insurance requirement is just for legal liability 
that is part of a commercial general legal liability policy not a 
separate fire policy.  
The exact requirements will be made firm when the contract is 
negotiated.  In the meantime, if you are pricing insurance, please 
include what is noted in the Exhibit A. 

38. Please clarify that the cost of back ground checks and drug testing 
for new hires is a reimbursable expense.  
This is an approved reimbursable expense. 

39. Does the operator provide billing and collections processing for 
monthly parkers in the parking garages and lots?  
Yes 

40. Please provide the current operators annual management fee.  
a. Not applicable for general lots and garages.  
b. For the Receiver controlled garages and management fees, refer 

to Question and Answers Attachment A – Receiver Financials. 
41. Please provide starting pay rates for each employee position.  

  Class Title   

Min Monthly 

Salary   

Max Monthly 

Salary   

Parking Attendant (Part‐Time)

 $1,560.00

($9.00 per hour)

 $1,733.33

($10.00 per hour)

Parking District Supervisor  $4,328.53  $5,557.17

Supervising Parking Attendant  $3,533.77  $4,536.22

Office Assistant II  $2,830.03  $3,633.63

Maintenance Repair Technician II  $3,683.41  $4,975.73  
42. Please confirm the 7 references requested on page 24 & 24 of the 

RFP should be managed during the past 5 years not necessarily for 
the past 5 years. So for example if we have been operating a similar 
portfolio for the last 3 years this would qualify correct?  
Please respond to the requested items as best possible. 

 
 
 
POSTED 9-12-14 
 
1.  Communication – please send your communication via email. 
 
2. Questions – the last day to make inquiries is October 2, 2014. 
 
3.  Answers – clarifications and answers will be posted by October 9, 2014. 
 
4.  Proposals due promptly by 2:00 pm, Thursday, October 16, 2014, City 

Clerk’s Office. 
 
 


